TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Department of Law

Tomi Anttoni Särkikangas

# CHINA'S STRATEGY ON THE SOUTH CHINA SEA

Bachelor's thesis
Programme INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

Supervisor: Vlad Alex Vernygora, LL.M., MA

Tallinn 2021

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	4
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
1. CHINA'S POLITICAL ECONOMY IN THE SOUTH CHINA SEA	10
1.1. The Philippines	11
1.2. Brunei Darussalam	13
1.3. Cambodia	13
1.4 Vietnam	14
2. CHINA'S CONCEPTION OF LAW OF THE SEA	16
2.1 Chinese interpretation of the UNCLOS	18
2.2 China's view on continental self	19
2.3 The Nine-Dash claim in the eyes of UNCLOS: the Philippines versus China Arbitration	1.20
2.4 From NDL & historical titles to Four Sha's & archipelagos	21
2.6 Asserting administrative control through artificial islands	22
3. THEORETICAL APPROACH AND DISCUSSION	26
CONCLUSION	32
LIST OF REFERENCES	34
Appendix 1. Non-exclusive license	38

I hereby declare that I have compiled the paper independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors has been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length is 10687 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Tomi Särkikangas .....

(Signature, date) Student code: 156196TASB Student e-mail address: tomi.sarkikangas@gmail.com

Supervisor: Vlad Vernygora, LL.M., MA: The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(Signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee:

Permitted to the defence

.....

(Name, signature, date)

# ABSTRACT

The South China Sea dispute is an active and complex issue that has been shadowing the stability of the region for decades. This topic has been widely studied before but rarely from a constructivist perspective. Thus, this paper attempts to prove that Beijing's actions in the region can be more often explained by taking the social concepts and ideas into consideration rather than just China's vast power dominance over the other contestants.

This paper aims to shed light on the reasons behind China's actions by testing whether China is trying to downplay the geo-strategic significance of the South China Sea. This is done by a case study of the effects of China's Belt and Road Initiative in the Philippines, Brunei, Cambodia, and Vietnam, and by a case study of China's conception of the international maritime law and its island-building projects on Paracel islands.

The findings of this paper show that Beijing is using international law to justify its actions and its claim on the South China Sea, while, at the same time, pushing the boundaries of its claim on waters of other states. China has also used the Belt and Road Initiative-associated framework to make states around South China Sea bandwagon China. This thesis concludes that China is efficiently downplaying the geo-strategic importance of the dispute by changing the focus from China's aggressive expansionism to mutual trade opportunities, fully utilising the constructivism-framed concept of shared understandings.

Keywords: South China Sea dispute, ASEAN, UNCLOS, China, Constructivism

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASEAN - Association of Southeast Asian Nations

- BRI The Belt and Road Initiative
- CCP Chinese Communist Party
- CLSC Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf Limits of the Continental Shelf
- EEZ Economic Exclusive Zone
- MOU Mutual Memorandum of Understanding
- NDN Nine-Dash Line
- OBOR One Belt One Road
- PCA UNCLOS Permanent Court of Arbitration
- PRC People's Republic of China
- SCS South China Sea
- TCOB Two Corridors, One Belt initiative
- UNCLOS United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea

### INTRODUCTION

The South China Sea (further – SCS) dispute is one of the most noticeable as well as multidimensional disputes in the Asia-Pacific that has been ongoing for decades. The maritime epicentre of the dispute represents a semi-enclosed Sea in South East Asia, consisting area of about 3,500,000 square kilometres and ranging from Southern China to the shores of Malaysia and Indonesia in the west. All the coastal states, excluding Singapore, have overlapping claims on the SCS, while the two most contested areas are around the Spratly and Paracel archipelagos. Spratly islands consist of around 100 reefs or small islands, and the area is believed to have large yet undiscovered natural gas and oil reserves (Mubeed 2020, 205). The mainland of the People's Republic of China (further – China), Taiwan, and Vietnam entirely claim Spratly islands, whilst the Philippines and Malaysia are claiming smaller portions of the archipelago (Ndi 2016, 3-5). Paracel islands consist of 130 small islets and reefs, and the entire area is claimed as well as occupied by China while being also claimed by Vietnam and Taiwan (Ndi 2016, 3).

Arguably, the strong patriotism- and political economy-driven claims of the competing states can be considered reasons that make this dispute so threatening, global security-wise. For China, the authority over the SCS is nearly of a metaphysical nature, and, in 2012, the world's most populous country declared that it would reclassify the area as its national core interest alongside the already controlled Tibet and Taiwan, which is *de facto* not controlled by Beijing (Wingfield-Hayes 2014). China's traditional SCS claim, known in the literature as the Nine-Dash Line (further – NDL), is strongly based on historiography and ancient records, and, in the case of the Paracel Islands (the Chinese side calls those 'West Sand Archipelago'), the NDL goes deep into the 200-mile Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) of Vietnam. The public opinion about the dispute in Vietnam is also extremely patriotic, and official Hanoi strongly opposes China's occupation of the disputed area.

In 2016, the Chinese NDL got a heavy hit when the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (further – UNCLOS) arbitral tribunal ruled that most of the Chinese SCS-associated claims are not valid under international law. The arbitral tribunal ruled that none of the Chinese controlled islands in SCS can be considered as islands and thus China cannot claim the 200-nautical mile EEZ around these territorial units. Since then, objectively, there have been signs of a change in China's SCS strategy towards a strategy based on administrative control rather than historical rights. At the same time, China's land reclamation and other outpost building projects in the SCS have steadily accelerated year after year.

The current *status quo* can academically legitimise a hypothesis that **China is predominantly acting in the field of political economy to outmanoeuvre its opponents by developing administrative control over SCS and, in the same time, modifying its area-focused claim to make it compliant with the international law**. The main point to be tested here is whether or not the Chinese side is downplaying the geo-strategic significance of the issue, presenting it like an ordinary routine element of international relations (especially, in the absence of a stable international system and the latter's non-responsiveness to the Russo-Georgian and Russo-Ukrainian wars and further annexations of both Georgian and Ukrainian sovereign territories by Russia). Considering the aforementioned argument, this paper has two research questions: *1)* how China is attempting to communicate/cooperate with the other countries around the NDL in the context of gaining leverages in the dispute, and *2)* what are the legal measures that China is utilising to make its NDL-bound claim compliant with international law.

This paper tackles the issue of academic comprehension of Beijing's actions in the context of the SCS dispute through the prism of social constructivism, which is usually not a common theoretical framework provider when it comes to discussions on China. It could be argued that the core idea of social constructivism is that the world of international relations consists of a system of thoughts and ideas rather than material force (Jackson, Sorensen 2020). If the SCS issue is reviewed from a materialistic perspective (i.e., neo-realists *et cetera*), it would be easy to assume that China will dominate the other SCS littoral states, actively seeking to and using force, if needed to gain what it wants.

When researching China's actions in the SCS using constructivism-bound parameters and premises (more specifically, the theory's concept of shared understandings), it is easier to understand the reasons why China is, in addition to using force, often seen relying on negotiations and building bilateral discussions-forming channels between the states involved. It could be suggested that China uses these tactics to downplay the SCS dispute in the global arena by changing the focus from its expansionism towards cooperation between the SCS littoral states. China's effort to assert administrative control over SCS is analysed with a case study of China's artificial island-building project in the West Sand Archipelago and China's effort to bend the international law in the process of making its claim compliant with the UNCLOS legislation. Having a glance at these cases will, with necessity, assist to determine the rationale behind China's

actions in the SCS during the past decade and will form a prognosis on how China can act in the nearest future.

In a significant addition, this paper examines the Belt and Road Initiative's (further – BRI) framework in the context of the SCS dispute, observing China's BRI-bound efforts in the Philippines, Brunei, Cambodia, and Vietnam. These interlinkages were selected so that each state represent a different viewpoint to the SCS dispute, and each state has implemented different strategies to handle the bilateral relations with China when it comes to SCS dispute. Focusing on one state would not bring enough evidence to build a solid point of academic departure in regards to China's plans on the SCS. The case study of Cambodia represents an ASEAN state that has no claim on SCS but has a great need for foreign investments, Brunei for a state that had a claim to SCS but has since withdrawn from the game and the Philippines represents a state that has tried to constraint China's advancements in SCS by bringing the matter to the UNCLOS Permanent Court of Arbitration to be decided. Vietnam represents a state that has been most actively stepped down to protect its interests when China has taken an aggressive stance in its SCS strategy. The case study of China's artificial island-building project was selected to this paper study China's effort to assert administrative control over SSC and to emphasise the lengths of how far China is willing to go to prove that its claim to SCS is not to be questioned, even in the eyes of the international maritime law. This case study also gathers evidence needed for the discussion part where this paper tries to build a bridge between the lawfare tactics and China's goal to downplay the aggressive nature of the dispute and make not to appear as an aggressor, but as a legal owner of the SCS region. These case studies will help to understand the rationale behind China's actions in SCS in the past decade and will form an expectation of how China will act in the future.

This paper is structured as follows. The first chapter is divided into three parts. The first part of this paper studies the Chinese actions in the SCS, in terms of the use of China's economic resources. The first part of the chapter introduces the economic differences and interdepends of China and the other claimant states in the dispute. The second part of the chapter introduces China's Belt and Road initiative and the actions of both China and other SCS states are explained with the context of the Belt and Road initiative. The last part of the first chapter explains China's artificial islands building projects with a case study of Sansha city. The first chapter of this paper will provide an answer to the first research question of this paper.

The second chapter of this paper tackles the legal aspect of China's NDL claim. The first part of the chapter introduces the legal background of China's NDL claim and how it relates to international law. The second part of this chapter introduces THE UNCLOS framework that acts as a constitution of the oceans and thus is the main international law related to this subject. This chapter will introduce two occasions where China has applied lawfare strategies in an attempt to give justification for its actions in SCS. The last part of this chapter explains the Four Sha's theory and its importance in understanding China's legal strategies in SCS.

The last part of this paper concludes on the findings of the previous chapters while discussing the paper's main claim through social constructivism theory and attempting to outline the underlying motives that guide China's decision making in the SCS dispute.

# 1. CHINA'S POLITICAL ECONOMY IN THE SOUTH CHINA SEA

China's economy has been one of the fastest-growing economies in the world since the 1980s, the Chinese GDP growth has been double digits from 1978 to 2017, and China's trade surplus in 2019 was around USD 421 billion (Kuyucu 2020). From an SCS' perspective, the inevitable outcome of China's economic growth is that China has significantly more resources at its disposal than other states in South-East Asia and this has an impact on the China policies of the other SCS littoral states. All other SCS littoral parties, except China and Taiwan, are members of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN). China and ASEAN are in a highly peculiar relationship where the latter's different members apply different strategies when interacting with China. From the perspective of this paper, it could be observed that bilateral trade between China and the ASEAN states is a factor of global significance – it has increased fifteen-fold between 2000-2018, and the growth rate has been steadily increasing since 2009 (Tran 2020). The key catalyst for the rapid increase of China-ASEAN trade has been the BRI and the first part of this chapter will focus on revealing the impact of BRI on the prospective outcome of the SCS dispute.

The BRI that was formerly known also as One Belt One Road (OBOR) was officially launched by President Xi Jinping in 2013 as the 21<sup>st</sup>-century version of the Silk Road to, like its historical equivalent, facilitate trade and cultural exchange between China and Eurasia (Huang 2016). In 2014, President Xi announced that in addition to a land-based 'Silk Road', China would invest in a new maritime route of the 21<sup>st</sup> century that would expand from South East Asia to the Mediterranean Sea (Fallon 2015).

As argued, this gigantic geo-strategic initiative aims at sustaining China's economic growth and development, increasing China's international influence and infrastructure development (Huang 2016), but it also has a strong security dimension. Brown (2018) argues that China is using the BRI to build a zone of "economic commonality" based on the interconnectivity of trade, infrastructure and finance where the participants enjoy win-win outcomes. This is China's attempt to gain more strategic space in the international arena with a wide array of soft power methods (Brown 2018, 215).

The concept of soft power is a concept created by Joseph Nye that refers to states' ability to "get others to want what you want" without a use of force but rather affecting other state actors through non-aggressive terms (Nye 2002). Historically, it has been the United States that has been the hegemonies leader in terms of soft power in the world arena with the idea of an American Dream and most of the world's population watching American movies, but China has emerged in this arena with lucrative trade and finance possibilities. It is unlikely that China would have similar cultural soft power as the United States has, but in terms of trade, China has already overtaken the USA as the richest nation in the world and might become the largest economy in terms of GDP by 2028 (World economic... 2020). As suggested, the soft power capabilities of the BRI have been in extensive use in SCS lately, and the SCS plays a crucial part in China's BRI as the following examples will reveal. In addition to the land-based infrastructure projects, China has invested heavily in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century Maritime Silk Road that connects China to the rest of the world (Huang 2016).

The SCS and BRI are both core interests of China, and all SCS littoral states are BRI signatories. The area has significant strategic importance for China as the main sea routes to Africa, Europe, the Middle East and the Atlantic side of the Americas all go via the SCS, the total amount of BRI investments by 2027 has been estimated to be around 1.2 trillion-1.3 trillion USD (Refinitiv 2020). This part of the paper will explain the behaviour of a trio of regional actors related to the SCS dispute and how China's economic power has moulded the actions of these countries.

#### **1.1.** The Philippines

When the Philippines announced the arbitral tribunal case against China after the Scarborough Shoal incident, China's attitude towards the Philippines become increasingly hostile (Roberts 2017). China actively tried to isolate the Philippines from the ASEAN, and high-level meetings between China and the Philippines were cancelled (Ibid). China's BRI-associated strategy in the SCS area has been evident in China-Philippines relations since 2016 when President Rodrigo Duterte took office from Benigno Aquino III (Nie 2016). He assumed his office at about the same time when the UNCLOS arbitral tribunal gave its verdict on the Philippines vs. China case. Duterte's administration has seen the benefits of the BRI from how the Chinese investments via the framework boosted economic development in Myanmar, Laos, and Cambodia, and thus

promised to improve the China-Philippines relations, so Manila could get its share of the BRI investments (Ibid).

When Duterte entered his office in 2017, he announced the ambitious 'Build, Build, Build', a plan that Duterte's regime called as "Golden Age of Infrastructure" is the largest infrastructure project in the Philippines history with a goal to spend an amount equal to 5,3 per cent of the country's GDP to build a new infrastructure for itself (Estrada 2018). It is evident that the lack of proper infrastructure is one of the main reasons why the Philippines is falling behind in economic development compared to other ASEAN countries, but it is equally obvious that the Philippines cannot sustain such a huge project without foreign investment.

According to Duterte's admission, one of the main reasons why the Philippines's economy lags behind its peers in South East Asia is the poor state of infrastructure (Heydarian 2018). This made the Philippines a great subject for China's BRI strategy and Duterte's seemingly pro-China attitude provided a perfect opportunity for Beijing to use its political economy to strengthen its position in the SCS. In order to enhance the Chinese investments-originated initiatives, China's Foreign Ministry warned the Philippines to discontinue any arbitration formalities in 2016, and Duterte's administration response was to comply with China's wishes, downplaying the tribunal's verdict to the minimum and refraining from asking China to abide the tribunal's decision (Ibid).

China-Philippine's relations seemingly soared during the first's years of Duterte's regime, and the Philippines become a member of the BRI in 2017 (Rabena 2020). In 2018, President Xi paid a Chinese leader's first visit to the Philippines in 13 years, followed by the signing of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on the BRI, where China and the Philippines agreed to "encourage infrastructure cooperation and interconnectivity in transportation, telecommunication, and energy sectors" until end of the Duterte's term in 2022 (Ibid).

The Philippines' actions in the early years of Duterte's era show that the BRI framework is an efficient tool for China to persuade other states to change their foreign policies to a more China-friendly direction. The rapid change of the Philippines-China policy is an evidence-gathering example of the soft power capability of the BRI framework as China's lucrative investment promises were able to restrain the Philippines from defending its sovereignty in the contested areas. However, it has to be argued that the Philippines China policy has taken steps back since

the early dates of Duterte's regime as the promised Chinese BRI-originated investments are nowhere to be seen (De Castro 2020).

### 1.2. Brunei Darussalam

Although Brunei cannot be classified as a major disputant in the SCS issue, the Chinese NDL claim still penetrates Brunei's EEZ in the maritime region north of the islands of Borneo (Putra 2020). The amount of natural resources of the small nation of Brunei is rather limited, the question arises why Brunei has been so silent about China's NDL claim that penetrates deeply in its EEZ. Brunei's foreign policy towards China is a political anomaly as states are not usually silent when other state claims a majority of their EEZ with a claim that is not based on international law (Oba 2019). The reasons for Brunei's reluctance to oppose the Chinese NDL claim are visible when analysing the importance of Brunei's trade with China for its economy. Brunei is an active participant in the OBOR initiative, and the bilateral trade of these states has been steadily increasing with an astonishing 49 per cent yearly rate since 1996 (Putra 2020). For Brunei, China is a major key in its attempt to diversify its economy while making it less dependent on oil drilling from where the nation's wealth originates from (Putra 2020). Arguably, Brunei is an example of China's evident economic assertiveness in a form where a state adjusts its foreign policy to be aligned with China's wishes without China's persuasion.

### 1.3. Cambodia

Cambodia is one of the closest allies of China in South East Asia and China has invested approximately USD 500 million to Cambodia each year since 2010 and China is also the largest trade partner and source of foreign aid for Cambodia (Chen 2019). The OBOR framework has significant meaning for Cambodia's economic development and for China, Cambodia has been the crown jewel of OBOR's success since the initiative began in 2013 (Chen 2019). Cambodia itself does not play any role in the SCS, nor it has any contradicting claims with any other state in the region. Cambodia has still played an important part for China in its SCS strategy as a Chinese ally in ASEAN that has been trying to form a Code of Conduct for the SCS since the early 2000s. Cambodia's statements and actions in the ASEAN-led SCS Sea frameworks propose a good viewpoint for China's economic assertiveness policy in the SCS dispute.

When ASEAN tried to form a Joint communique (during the 2012 ASEAN Foreign Ministers meeting) to address China's actions in the Scarborough Shoal incident, it was blocked by Cambodia that acted as an ASEAN chair at the time (Roberts 2017). This was the first time in the ASEAN history when the organisation failed to deliverer a Joint communique that is usually always given after all major ASEAN events (Roberts 2017). Also, when the Permanent Court of Arbitration gave its verdict on the Philippines Versus China tribunal in 2016, the Philippines and Vietnam wanted to issue a Joint communique by ASEAN Foreign Ministers to emphasise the need for respect of the rule of law referring to the verdict, but the communique was blocked by Cambodia (Mogato 2016). It is clear that in these instances, Cambodia acted as China's pivot state in the ASEAN meetings. For Cambodia, the price of China's investments in its economy is larger than ASEAN unity, and China does not hesitate to use this as leverage against ASEAN based SCS framework when needed. Cambodia's economic independence from China assures that Cambodia will remain loyal to China in the SCS dispute.

These three examples show us how China uses, either passively or actively, its economic resources to assert its dominance in the SCS. These examples also prove that this strategy works for third party states like Cambodia that has no reason to turn against China for sake of SCS or ASEAN unity, and also for states like the Philippines and Brunei that have overlapping claims with China in the SCS. The key asset in this Chinese soft power strategy is the BRI framework.

#### 1.4 Vietnam

Similar to the Philippines Vietnamese economy suffers from inadequate infrastructure. However, implementing the BRI initiative in Vietnam has not been an easy task for China. Vietnam is a perfect subject for China's BRI framework. Vietnamese officials have estimated that the country would need USD 105 billion for its infrastructure improvements projects during the next 10 years and up to USD 605 billion until 2040 (Duong 2020). Vietnam's distrust of backing mainly on Chinese investments on covering these enormous investments is understandable as Vietnam has seen how China other states have ended up in a debt trap with China and losing important infrastructure hubs to Chinese ownership. Vietnam has lagged behind in terms of Chinese investments under the BRI umbrella but in a survey made for top public and private sector leaders in the ASEAN region majority of the respondents saw Vietnam as a country that would benefit most from the BRI framework out of the ASEAN states (Ibid).

After two years of active negotiations, China and Vietnam signed the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on promoting the BRI and Two Corridors, One Belt initiatives (later TCOB) (Hiep 2018). TCOB initiative is a bilateral framework proposed by China in 2003 to integrate Northern Vietnam into China's Yunnan and Guanxi regions (Ibid). The fact that it took 14 years to sign the TCOB shows the level of Vietnamese mistrust of China's development schemes. The implementation of these frameworks has not been a great success either, Vietnam has been the forefront actor within ASEAN states on pushing China back in the SCS territorial disputes. However, at the same time, Hanoi acknowledges China's importance as its main trading partner and source of much-needed funding especially for Vietnam's infrastructure projects the Vietnamese China relations can be described as "cooperation and struggle" (Grossman 2020). China's aggressions in SCS and it tends to downplay its responses to China in order to protect the bilateral relations with China (Ibid). This puts Vietnam in a difficult position where it has to balance between the SCS territorial disputes and the Chinese investments and trade relations.

### 2. CHINA'S CONCEPTION OF LAW OF THE SEA

United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) is an international maritime legal framework that governs the uses of the ocean and its resources. It was signed and adopted in 1982. It has sometimes been referred to as a constitution of the oceans because of its broad scope that contains everything from fishing and oil drilling to maritime environment protection. Most importantly, it sets up a legal codification on different sea zones and the rights and duties of states in these zones. UNCLOS has been ratified by 154 states, including China and other coastal states around the SCS. However, the United States of America has never officially ratified UNCLOS, but it is one of the most focal defenders of UNCLOS, especially on the SCS. The UNCLOS-bound framework defines five maritime zones that form the UNCLOS regulation basis. These zones are Internal waters, territorial sea, contiguous zone, exclusive economic zone (EEZ), and high seas.



nm – nautical mile

Figure 1. UNCLOS Legal boundaries of the Oceans and Airspace Source: TUFTS university

**Baseline** is the "low-water line along the coast" from where the sea area widths are calculated (United...1982). Internal waters include all littoral areas between the shoreline and the baseline. Inward water areas from the coastline like bays and deltas are considered as internal waters that are considered to be inside the baseline (United...1982). **Territorial Sea** is a 12 nautical mile area that every littoral state has the right to and it is calculated from the baseline (United...1982). The Territorial Sea area includes the air space over the area and the subsoil beneath the seabed (Ibid). The state has an "unlimited jurisdiction" in its territorial waters' overall activities in the area

(Williams 2014). Freedom of overflight or for freedom of navigation does not apply to the territorial waters except for innocent passage (Ibid). UNCLOS Article 18 states that ships of all states enjoy the right of innocent passage through the territorial sea of other states if the meaning of the passage is traversing the sea without stopping or proceeding in or out from a port facility inside the internal waters area (United 1982). UNCLOS chapter two, article 19 defines that "passage is innocent so long as it is not prejudicial to the peace, good order or security of the coastal State" (1982). Article 19 further defines the activities that are not considered innocent passage. These activities include the use of weapons, research and surveillance activities, launching or landing aircraft or military devices, loading or unloading commodities, and fishing (Ibid). Innocent passage applies to all ships regarding cargo or armament, so warships are allowed to traverse through territorial seas of other nations as long as they comply with the meaning of innocent passage stated in article 19.

**Contiguous zone** is an extension of the territorial sea area that can reach up to 24 miles from the baseline. States have the right to exercise control of contiguous zone if it is necessary to prevent or punish violations of "infringement of its customs, fiscal, immigration or sanitary laws and regulations within its territory or territorial sea" (United...2014). **Exclusive Economic Zone** (**EEZ**) is an intermediary zone between territorial sea and high seas, and it can extend a maximum of 200 nautical miles from the baseline (United 1983). The coastal state has the exclusive right to explore, exploit and preserve all-natural resources inside its EEZ (Ibid). The coastal state has the right to establish and use artificial islands and structures inside its EEZ (Ibid). States are allowed to establish reasonable safety zones around the artificial islands and installations to ensure navigation safety and the safety of the artificial islands themselves (Ibid).

**Continental shelf zone** comprises the natural prolongation of coastal state land territory (United 1983). The continental shelf's maximum width is the outer edge of the continental margin and it shall not exceed 350 nautical miles (Ibid). The continental margin is the shallow water area that starts from the coastline and ends where deep seafloor or abyssal plains begin (Webb 2019). **High Seas** consist of all sea areas outside the 200-mile radius from coastal- and archipelago states (United 1983). High seas are freely open for everyone, and no state can claim areas of high seas to its sovereignty (Ibid). Article 13 of the UNCLOS defines Low-tide elevations as naturally formed areas where the landmass is above water during low tide but is submersible during high tide (United...1982). Article 13 is essential in the SCS dispute because most of the contested areas in the SCS are low tide elevation reefs or sandbanks. When low-tide elevation is wholly or partly

inside the territorial sea area calculated from the mainland or an island, "elevation may be used as the baseline for measuring the breadth of the territorial sea" (Ibid). When low-tide elevation is located outside of the territorial sea calculated from mainland or island, "it has no territorial sea of its own" (Ibid).

The definition of islands in UNLOS is that islands are "naturally formed area of land, surrounded by water, which is above water at high tide" and that the UNCLOS marine zones are calculated for an island like they would be calculated for any other land territory (United...1983). Article 121 also states that rocks that cannot sustain "human habitation or economic life of their own" are not entitled to EEZ or continental self but will only generate the 12-mile territorial waters area around it (United...1983). Article 121 makes a clear division of three types of land features in the sea, Low-tide elevations and two types of high-tide elevations that will be further divided with the capability for sustaining human habitation on their own.

#### 2.1 Chinese interpretation of the UNCLOS

China's legal actions in the SCS dispute can be best explained with the idea of legal warfare. Legal warfare is one of the three categories of China's Three warfare's doctrine framework, in addition to public opinion warfare, psychological warfare (Livermore 2018). The function of the three warfare's is to strengthen the Chinese Communist Party's (CCP) legitimacy (Livermore 2018). For China, legal warfare is a function where China is "leveraging of existing legal regimes and processes to constrain adversary behaviour, contest disadvantageous circumstances, confuse legal precedent, and maximize advantage in situations related to the PRC's (People's Republic of China) core interests" (Livermore 2018). Because China sees the SCS as its core interest (Wingfield-Hayes 2014), any attempt to undermine China's claim on the SCS is viewed in China as an attempt to challenge CCP's legitimacy (Guilfoyle 2019)

China has tried to justify the NDL claim under UNCLOS with the reasoning that the islands in SCS are forming an archipelago, and China is then able to draw a baseline from the archipelago as one, not from the islands separately (United...1982). In the first draft of UNCLOS in 1975, China was able to push an article that stated that archipelagic states were" without prejudice to the status of oceanic archipelagos which form an integral part of the territory of a continental State" (unofficial...1972). If this sentence would have been in the final version of UNCLOS, China could

draw the baselines from mainland China around the alleged Chinese archipelagos of Paracel and Spratly islands, and so the NDL claim would have been somewhat compliant with the international law. However, this sentence was removed from further drafts from UNCLOS (Guilfoyle 2019) and the final version of UNCLOS states that only archipelagic states are allowed to draw the baselines around the archipelago itself, and the definition of an archipelagic state is a "state constituted wholly by one or more archipelagos and may include other islands" (1982).

#### 2.2 China's view on continental self

In 2009 Malaysia and Vietnam sent a joint submission to the United Nations Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf (CLSC) to claim the area exceeding the 200-mile EEZ zone based on the UNCLOS Article 76, paragraph 8 (United...2011). China's response to the claim was that "China has indisputable sovereignty over the islands in the SCS and the adjacent waters and enjoys sovereign rights and jurisdiction over the relevant waters as well as the seabed and subsoil thereof" and the response continues that this position is widely acknowledged in the international community (United...2009). China also claims that the joint claim has "seriously infringed" China's sovereignty in the SCS and that under article 5 of annexe I of Rules of Procedure of the Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf Commission should not proceed with the joint submission (United...2009). Article 5 of Annex I in Rules of procedure on CLSSC states that "in cases where a land or maritime dispute exists, the Commission shall not consider and qualify a submission made by any of the States concerned in the dispute" (United...2008).

In 2011, Chinese Foreign Ministry Spokesperson Jiang Yu stated that the Chinese claim in the SCS is based on historical evidence of Chinese presence in the area and that UNCLOS does not permit any state to extend its EEZ or continental shelf zone "to the territory of another country" and that UNCLOS "restrain or deny a country's right which is formed in history and abidingly upheld" (Embassy of...2011). The Chinese response reveals that China sees the whole SCS as its territory, and so it sees the claims made by other countries as direct violations against its territory and sovereignty. In the response, China provides a map of the 9-dash claim area, but it does not specify the exact coordinates of the area's edges or even the baseline where the Chinese area should be calculated.

### **2.3 The Nine-Dash claim in the eyes of UNCLOS: the Philippines versus China Arbitration**

China and the Philippines have overlapping claims on SCS, and China's NDL penetrates deep into the Philippines 200 nautical mile EEZ in Macclesfield Bank or what China calls Zhongsha Islands as part of its four Sha's claims (Guilfoyle 2019). China has also built a military installation in Mischief reef in Spratly islands, located just 130 nautical miles from the Philippines' Island of Palawan (Guilfoyle 2019). In July 2013, the Philippines commenced a case against China into UNCLOS Permanent court of arbitration (PCA) with a claim that China's NDL based on historical rights is not valid in UNCLOS legislation and that none of the islands in the contested area is large enough to generate the 200 nautical mile EEZ (Arbitration...2013).

Chinese lawfare strategies were instantly evident after the arbitration was commenced. First of all, China refused to participate in the arbitral tribunal and stated that the tribunal lacked jurisdiction to handle such claims because the case concerned two matters outside UNCLOS jurisdiction, historical titles that the NDL is based on, and sovereignty over maritime features (Arbitration...2013). By undermining the jurisdiction of the tribunal, China made clear that whatever the outcome of the tribunal is, it does not have any legitimacy, and it will not be obeyed by China. However, the Chinese attempt to undermine the juridical authority of the PCA failed on all accounts. When the Philippines brought the case to the PCA, it worded it so that the dispute is about the legal characterization of the maritime features and not about who has sovereignty over those features (Ibid). Tribunal's answer for China's claim that UNCLOS does not have jurisdiction over historical titles was that the exclusion of historic titles applies only to territorial seas or internal waters, and China has not claimed that the area inside NDL would be neither of those (Guilfoyle 2019).

The Chinese lawfare approach of not giving specified details about the limits of the NDL forced the tribunal to develop the limits of the Chinese claim by analysing the Chinese actions in SCS with respect to the UNCLOS. The convention ruled that China on many occasions assured that it would respect the freedom of navigation and overflight in the SCS, so it does not consider that area as its internal waters or territorial waters because freedom of navigation and overflight only applies to EEZ and continental shelf areas (Permanent court...2016). Tribunal also noted that China's actions are not in line with the historical reasons narrative because China has declared the baseline and territorial waters in Paracel islands, and China would not have to do that if China

would treat the whole NDL claim area as its territorial or internal waters (Permanent court...2016). Tribunal concluded that China's NDL claim considers Chinese sovereignty to the living and nonliving resources in the SCS, so it can be assumed that China sees the NDL area as its EEZ and continental self-zones (Ibid).

Tribunal concluded that historical rights are not valid in UNCLOS and that by signing the UNCLOS, all historical rights China might have had are no longer legitimate (Ibid). Tribunal also conducted that the Chinese islands on Spratly cannot sustain human habitation so those will not generate EEZ around them and that the Chinese land reclamation in Mischief Reef inside Philippines EEZ is a violation against UNCLOS and causes severe harm to the maritime ecosystem (Ibid).

The Philippines vs. China arbitration case undermined the Chinese legal position significantly in the SCS. When China lost the case against the Philippines in the Spratly islands, it meant that the Chinese claim on Paracel islands as well because the Chinese claim there is based on the same historical rights narrative, and it reaches deep beyond the Vietnamese EEZ. The inconsistency of the NDL claim makes it weak and easily invalidated. However, regardless of the outcome of the Tribunal, it still is a great example of how flexible the Chinese NDL claim is and how China will always come up with new tricks in its lawfare game in an attempt to flex the law in Chinas favour.

#### 2.4 From NDL & historical titles to Four Sha's & archipelagos

After the lost arbitration case, Chinese lawfare tacticians have attempted to rephrase the NDL claim to make it more UNCLOS complainant. Instead of the approach of the historical title that took a heavy hit in the eyes of UNCLOS in the 2016 tribunal, China has built its SCS claim based on four islands groups, or Sha's in Chinese (Nguyen 2020). These island groups are Xisha (Paracel Islands), Nansha (Spratly Islands), Dongsha (Pratas islands), and Zhongsha (Scarborough Shoal and Macclesfield Bank) (Nguyen 2020). The reviewed claim, also known as four Sha's claims, was officially revealed in 2018 in a study published in the Chinese Journal of International law, and the new approach looks seemingly similar to the Chinese attempt made in the first draft of UNCLOS in 1972 as mentioned earlier in this paper, the argument being that China could draw a baseline from the mainland around each of the four archipelagos and then calculate the 200 nautical mile EEZ from that baseline (Guilfoyle 2019). However, like mentioned earlier, this approach is

blocked in UNCLOS from other than archipelago states (United...1983) and China by no means can qualify as one.

The Four Sha's claim, however, argues that there is a regime of archipelagos outside of UNCLOS that allows states to draw baselines around a group as a unit without any exclusion whether the state is an archipelago state or not (Chinese...2018). The study gives several examples of such occasions like Denmark and Faroe Islands, Ecuador, and Galapagos islands (Chinese...2018). All the examples given by Chinese scholars are from the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, way before UNCLOS was ratified, but the Chinese argument is that UNCLOS "has not exhausted this matter and does not address the regime of continental States' outlying archipelagos, as such" and that the "concept of the archipelago as a unit is well established in international law" (Chinese...2018).

The four Sha's claim can be seen as some kind of supplement for the NDL claim, and although it is based on islands rather than line painted at sea, it is still rather vague and leaves room for China's legal warfare strategies. If the claim is unclearly delimited, it also means that it is harder for other states to prove that it is invalid because China can and will come up with new definitions and laws that will suit its course. The Four Sha's claim is clearly framed in accordance with the Sansha city administrative control initiative. It is evident that the Sansha city administrative areas are going to be the baselines for China's SCS claim in the future. Combined with the development of the Sansha city project, the Four Sha's claim is going to be a true challenge for Vietnam and the Philippines, because, instead of the historical titles, the new claim is going to be based on Chinese civilians living in the contested islands and that makes the claim much more concrete.

#### 2.6 Asserting administrative control through artificial islands

The most eminent Chinese effort to legalise the NDL claim under UNCLOS legislation is China's island-building projects in the SCS. Since 2013, China has reclaimed at least 3200 acres of land in Paracel islands where the land reclamation projects have been mostly located but China has also reclaimed land in Spratly islands as well (China island....2021). The crown jewel of these projects is the Sansha city project on Woody Island in the Paracels, and the following part of this paper will explain how China has used its vast economic resources to build a fully functioning city in the SCS that will act as a juridical and administrative base for China's SCS operations. The land area of Woody Island itself is about 2,5 square kilometres, but according to China, the area that Sansha

city governs is more than two million square kilometres that effectively is the size of the whole of SCS within the Chinese claim (Haver 2021a). The Sansha city administrative area encompasses three of the four Sha's, Paracel's islands, Spratly islands and Zhongsha islands, also known as Macclesfield Bank and Scarborough Shoal (Haver 2021a), so the Sansha city is the administrative system built on the four Sha's idea.

Sansha city is a prefecture-level city that is second-level administrative level in the Chinese administrative system below the province (Chansoria 2020), so the Sansha city has an extraordinarily high position in the Chinese administrative system for being an island with around two thousand inhabitants. In early 2020 Sansha city got two new third level districts, Xisha and Nansha, Xisha district controls Zhongsha (Macclesfield Bank) and Paracel islands, and the Nansha District governs islands and reefs on Spratly islands (Xi 2020). The districts are further divided into four Townships and ten residential communities, being fourth and fifth levels of the Chinese administrative system. When the two districts were announced in 2020, Chinese officials stated that this action should not be "over-interpreted" because the reason for it is normal city development" and safeguarding territorial sovereignty (Xi 2020).

When the Sansha city administrative area was unveiled in 2012, the Hainan prefecture secretary stated that Sansha city was established to improve China's "administrative management" over Paracel, Spratly, and Zhongsha islands and the surrounding waters around these island groups (Haver 2021a). Since the establishment of Sansha city, Chinese officials repeatedly mentioned the concept of normalised administrative control over the SCS (Ibid).

Normalised administrative control is a system where China is building a fully functioning civilian society to the SCS with an administrative system like any other city in mainland China (Ibid). By creating the system of administrative control, China is stating that the SCS is a Chinese territory where Chinese officials enforce Chinese laws. The civilian administrative control is a vital part of China's Four Sha's strategy. First, it causes less harmful public interest in the international community than resorting to a show of military force. The second purpose of administrative control is to strengthen China's sovereignty in the disputed islands. The UNCLOS tribunal decision in 2016 affirmed that administrative control of an area is a sign of sovereignty that strengthens states claim on the area (United...2016).

To enforce administrative control, China has invested heavily in civilian and military infrastructure within the Sansha city framework. When Sansha city was established in 2012, the Woody islands where the actual city is located was largely undeveloped and heavily reliant on an external supply of food, water, fuel, and other necessaries and the environment is hostile to human habitation due to the extreme weather conditions with constant typhoons and strong winds, and scarce natural resources (Haver 2021). After establishing Sansha city, Chinese officials launched a large-scale project to improve living conditions on Woody Island and in the neighbouring islands that the Sansha city governs, including harbours, hospitals, civilian housing projects, schools, etcetera (Ibid).

One of the most impressive achievements of China in Woody Island is the Smart microgrid system that provides a clean and stable source of locally made electricity by utilising wind, solar and wave energy generators. Smart microgrids are systems that enable local power generation, storage, and distribution without connection to a conventional centralised power grid, including modern smart Greentech control and sensor system that improves the efficiency of the system by optimising the control of the system. (Haver 2021) The smart grid system in Sansha city offers a model for other Chinese settlements in the SCS.

In addition to fishing and hydrocarbon resource exploitation China has invested heavily in temping all kinds of Chinese businesses to do business in Sansha city. In 2019, there were 491 Chinese companies registered in Sansha city, and around 60 per cent of these companies are part of the "register in Sansha, pay taxes to Sansha, brand as Sansha, operate elsewhere" system where a company operates in mainland China but is registered in Sansha and pays the taxes to Sansha (Ibid). Chinese companies have also invested significantly in developing aquaculture in Paracel and Spratly islands with the "companies plus fishermen" initiative. For example, Hailan Blue Pearl Culturing Company Limited invested 3 million US dollars in developing an aquaculture project to farm sea cucumbers and pears in Spratly islands (Ibid).

Compared to the more traditional fishing industry where fishing boats and fishermen are constantly moving, the aquaculture industry is bound to a location and enables the development of permanent civilian establishments where they are located. With the use of aquaculture, China can populate smaller land formations in the Sansha city administrative area and thus enforce its claim in both Paracel and Spratly islands.

In addition to aquaculture, the second main interest of Chinese officials has been the promotion of tourism in the SCS. In 2016 Sanya International Cruise Development Co Ltd announced that it will buy five to eight ships that will operate solely in the SCS, and the first ship called Nanhai dream, (Nanhai is the Chinese name for the SCS) started cruises to Paracels soon after (Blanchard 2016). A good recent example of China's effort to promote tourism in the SCS was that that the first commercial cruise after the 10-month covid-19 cruise halt was destined to the SCS when two Chinese ships Nanhai Dream and Changle Gongzhu, left the port of Sanya towards Paracel islands in December 2020 (Xu 2020). SCS cruises have a strong patriotic propaganda element and reports have stated that the cruise includes flag-raising ceremonies on islands claimed by China and patriotic history lessons (Wang 2021).

With this evidence, this paper argues that tourism in the SCS is targeted at mainland China residents, and it has two purposes. First, it enhances the local economy and provides working opportunities in the Chinese islands in the SCS. The second purpose is to promote patriotism and awareness of the SCS in China. Woody island can be seen as a showcase of China's greatness, and Chinese officials are utilizing local tourism to reap its benefits.

Sansha city is the least populated and smallest prefecture of China when the second least populated prefecture has 50 times more population and the second smallest has 83 times more land area (CGNT 2020). However, when the Sansha city water area is taken in the calculation, Sansha is the largest prefecture in China (CGNT 2020). It is evident that the Sansha city administrative system does not exist only to govern the local residents. It is hard to argue that the 2000 civilians that mostly live in the same 2,5 square meter island would need a four-level administrative system. The purpose of the Sansha city administrative area is to strengthen the Chinese claim in the three Sha's that Sansha governs. The administrative system's size hints that the Woody Island project could serve as an example of what China wants to achieve in the Spratly islands later on. This case study confirms that the administrative system for this expansion already exists.

### **3. THEORETICAL APPROACH AND DISCUSSION**

Social constructivism is an international relations' theoretical approach that focuses on "human awareness or consciousness" in the world political system (Jackson, Sorensen 2015, 210-215). Constructivism emphasises the importance of ideas instead of material power in international relations (Jackson, Sorensen 2015, 210-215). Constructivism sees that the international system does not exist by itself like a natural phenomenon, but it is a living and constantly evolving idea that is constructed by different ideas, believes, and concepts (Wendt 1992). The core idea of constructivism is that political actors do not always make rational decisions based on material or economic benefits or trade, but that identities and history are constantly shaping international relations (Ibid). From a constructivist perspective, ideas are shaping international relations, and international law is one tool for a state to promote or change the ideas (Guilfoyle 2019).

Constructivists think that shared understanding or intersubjectivity plays a key role in relations between political actors. That means that the relations between political actors are perceived by the shared understanding among the political community. The intersubjectivity downplays the dominance of the material and military power of a state in international relations since the shared understanding of ideas and concepts play a significant role in how states see each other (McGlinchey, Walters, Scheinpflug 2018). Contrariwise, if political actors do not have similar ideas and concepts on a particular matter, it causes mistrust and conflicting behaviour between the actors. For example, states sharing the idea of democracy and equal human rights have less tendency to end up in a conflicting situation with each other than a democratic state with a non-democratic state.

In another way, international laws are constructed by ideas, and if a state can promote new ideas, it can also then change international law. In the context of this research work's main theme, constructivism provides for a useful point of academic departure, claiming that different states (including those that are disputing something) can have a shared understanding in regards to how the other side can behave (Theys 2017, 36). As this paper points out, China sees international law, as well as the UNCLOS on this occasion, as a tool to justify its actions and, most importantly, its sovereignty over the SCS area.

Constructivists argue that states have multiple identities that are constructed through social interaction with other states and political actors. The idea that the state is acting based on a socially

constructed identity that can and will change over time leads to an assumption that states can influence other states and political actors by modifying their ideas and identities and thus creating Intersubjectivity between the states.

China's claim and interest towards the SCS are based on historical reasons and thus cannot be properly understood by realism or liberal IR theories that do not put much emphasis on the social construct of a state when analysing its motives. According to Chinese officials, China has a historical right to govern the SCS, and so all claims made by other states are direct threats to China's sovereignty (Panda 2015). If we studied this issue through realism, it would argue that China is motivated and guided by the power (Jackson, Sorensen 2015, 140-145) and the Chinese actions adventurous in the SCS can be explained by China's relative strength compared to the other states in the region. From a realism perspective, however, international law does not have any meaning for a strong political actor, but for China, it does. It could be argued that, for China, international law is a crucial way to strengthen its control over SCS. The realism viewpoint does not take the historical reasons in the count and studying China without understanding China's historical background and its great importance in policy making of China cannot achieve great results. For Beijing, the process of geo-strategically 'looking after' the SCS is almost a sacred duty and part of Chinese identity thus, China is not willing to scale back its activities even though the cost of the activities would exceed the rational level. Constructivism argues that "anarchy is what states make of it (Wendt 1992) whereas realists see that an anarchistic international system is the determining factor of states behaviour (McGlinchey, Walters, Scheinpflug 2018).

This paper claims that China is downplaying the geo-strategic importance of the SCS issue. The case studies presented in this paper can be analysed with a constructivist perspective that what China does it does for changing the ideas and thinking of China and the SCS dispute to a form that suits China's needs. The first aspect of this question is China's soft power capability through its BRI framework. For China, the BRI framework is a soft power tool that in SCS dispute can be used to downplay the conflicting nature of the issue and promote the positive sides of the bilateral relations between the SCS littoral states. Unquestionably, none of other the SCS disputants could have any kind of chance against China in a military conflict but still, China is hesitant to cross the line that could escalate the issue to an armed conflict. The BRI framework that functions as China's main soft power tool for promoting its expansionism around the globe is a significant tool in the SCS dispute as well. The best way to promote cooperation and strengthen the ties between states is to promote trade and create win-win scenarios for all parties.

The data presented in this paper shows that China is using the BRI framework to divert the focus of bilateral relations towards trade and finance rather than the ongoing geopolitical issues in the SCS region. The data collected in this paper shows that when China uses force in SCS to gain an advantage in the dispute, the target states are tending to downplay their response toward China in order to protect the Chinese investments pouring into their economies.

The Philippines under Rodrigo Duterte's regime is a great example of China's BRI initiative in action on shifting the focus from China's expansionism to Chinese investments to the Philippines PPP program. When the Philippines took the SCS dispute to the UNCLOS tribunal, China's response was clear and strong, the SCS dispute is a bilateral issue between China and the Philippines, and no third-party actors should be involved. The Philippines paid the price of the tribunal on deteriorating China relations and increasing hostilities (De Castro 2020). With the Strategy of carrot and stick China made it clear that when President Duterte took office in 2016 he can either be a friend of China and drop further arbitration formalities or lose the Chinese trade and finance opportunities that were already offered within the BRI framework. In the case of the Philippines, this strategy has worked in China's favour and the Philippines has shifted closer to China's sphere of influence and further away from the United States that the Philippines has relied on for decades. If the Philippines has to choose whether to defend its rights to its EEZ or to get billions of Chinese investments to boost is the economy the difficulty of the decision is just what China wants and so far, the Philippines's response has been to comply with China's wishes.

For China, the BRI framework is a soft power tool that in SCS dispute can be used to downplay the conflicting nature of the issue and promote the positive sides of the bilateral relations between the SCS littoral states. Unquestionably, none of other the SCS disputants could have any kind of chance against China in a military conflict but still, China is hesitant to cross the line that could escalate the issue to an armed conflict. China has had military clashes with Vietnam, but armed clash has followed a more peaceful time. The BRI framework that functions as China's main soft power tool for promoting its expansionism around the globe is a significant tool in the SCS dispute as well. The best way to promote cooperation and strengthen the ties between states is to promote trade and create win-win scenarios for all parties.

In the SCS dispute, China has a problem that it has to deal with both ASEAN and the SCS littoral states that excluding Taiwan are all members of ASEAN. it is evident that China wants to negotiate

with each state bilaterally but China's soft power through BRI helps it to deal with ASEAN as well. ASEAN member states that are not contestants in the SCS are fruitful targets for China's soft power. For Cambodia, the significance of Chinese investments and trade outpowers the Cambodian sympathy to ASEAN unity and China can count on that Cambodia will not support any multilateral statements against China in the ASEAN community. Thus, Brunei and Cambodia are both heavily bandwagoning on China and will not cause any problems for China in the SCS dispute. It can be argued that both countries have bought the Chinese idea of Chinese SCS and China seeks to reaffirm this behaviour to keep Brunei and Cambodia on China's side if ASEAN would try to unite its front against China. Like the evidence in this paper proves Cambodia is willing to sacrifice ASEAN unity to please China and then when ASEAN makes a joint statement about the SCS dispute Cambodia will make sure that the tone is witing the limit that Beijing approves.

Both countries have the same reason for this behaviour, they have a lot to lose but not much to get when it comes to SCS dispute. Brunei and Cambodia are in a very different economic situations, but the similar behaviour is evidence that China's soft power in a form of economic opportunities is a universal tool. In the case of Vietnam, the effect of BRI soft power capability is not that significant from China's perspective but still, Vietnam holds a certain line in their response to Chinese aggression in Vietnamese EEZ.

The second aspect of the question of downplaying the geo-strategic importance of SCS is the lawfare tactics that China is applying on making the NDL claim to be compliant with the international law and thus changing the focus of the dispute from aggressive expansionism to question of interpretation the UNCLOS legislation. Constructivism is evident in China's actions in SCS in many ways as the previous chapters of this paper prove. China is willing to pour enormous amounts of resources to gain an advantage in the region, like, for example, the artificial island-building projects. These projects cannot be justified for economic or security reasons. This is a classic example of constructivism when the actions of a state are guided by social identity and history, and in the case of China, the SCS region has a significant role in China's identity. China is also strongly bolstering the nationalistic view of SCS.

When it comes to the question of legal measures that China is utilising to make NDL claim compliant with international law the Constructivism is evident in China's actions in SCS in many ways as the previous chapters of this paper prove. China is willing to pour enormous amounts of resources to gain an advantage in the region, like, for example, the artificial island-building projects. These projects cannot be justified for economic or security reasons. This is a classic example of constructivism when the actions of a state are guided by social identity and history, and in the case of China, the SCS region has a significant role in China's identity. China is also strongly bolstering the nationalistic view of SCS. Because China's actions are based on national identity, it will not, nor cannot, make any concessions when it comes to SCS because that would be a blow against China's national identity and sovereignty.

China also seeks to exploit the weakness of the UNCLOS legislation that is an integral part of lawfare tactics. The fact that UNCLOS states that the commission will not consider submissions made by a state concerned in the dispute (United... 2008) in China's eyes renders the credibility of the tribunal decisions made on the SCS dispute. Because China evidently sees the SCS as an integral part of its territory that has belonged to China for hundreds of years its responses it can theoretically argue that no other state can make claims on SCS since UNCLOS states that EEZs cannot be claimed on the territory of another state. When it comes to China's effort to legitimise its NDL claim China is often seen relying on UNCLOS as a source of the legitimacy of the NDL claim.

The lost arbitration case against the Philippines due to China's failure to define its NDL claim properly has increased the phase of Beijing's effort to establish administrative control over SCS. As of today, the Philippines could not even bring the issue to the UNCLOS tribunal since China has enhanced its NDL claim and constructed island bases on the contested reefs and thus making sure that any following tribunals would be rejected based on the same technicalities that the Philippines used to make the tribunal happen. However, like the Philippines vs. China arbitral tribunal shows, China's lawfare strategies are not foolproof but still, China does not see that it would be doing anything wrong in the eyes of international law. From a constructivist perspective, this can be explained by the historical aspect of China's SCS claim. China does not say that international law does not matter, but it implies that other states are attempting to undermine China's authority through international law with false accusations.

China's effort to assert administrative control over SCS with its land reclamation and islandbuilding projects are heavyweight examples of the magnitude of China's lawfare efforts. The core point of UNCLOS legislation on assessing the legal nature of an island is can it sustain human life without significant external help. When UNCLOS was drafted it is unlikely that anyone would have foreseen that a state is willing to build a modern-day Atlantis in the middle of the ocean to just prove a point that the island is habitable and thus can be used as a baseline to draw maritime boundaries. The lengths of how far China is going on proving that SCS belongs to it shows that the reasons are not always based on reasoning. For China, it is about building an idea and reinforcing the historical claim that the sea has always belonged to China, and it will be part of China in the future as well.

# CONCLUSION

This paper had two research questions: 1) how China is attempting to communicate/cooperate with the other countries around the NDL in the context of gaining leverages in the dispute, and 2) what are the legal measures that China is utilising to make its NDL-bound claim compliant with international law.

To conclude, the findings of this paper argue that China is efficiently downplaying the geostrategic importance of the SCS dispute. Based on the research made in this paper it can be concluded that the answer for the first research question lays in Beijing's favourite BRI project that is used widely in Southeast Asia to sift the focus from China's expansionism in SCS to the benefits of Chinese investments and trade to the economies of the SCS littoral states. However, the future of the BRI framework as a main soft power tool for China is not necessarily that bright because, like this paper has shown, the implementation of the Chinese investments in the Philippines, Vietnam and Cambodia have all been a disappointment in all cases. If a significant portion of the investments will never occur the BRI participant states begin to question the significance of the framework and seek investments from elsewhere. If the quality of the Chinese investments will not improve it is possible that both Vietnam and the Philippines will begin bandwagoning on the United States and that would be the worst-case scenario for Beijing.

For the second research question, this paper has provided solid evidence that China is using lawfare tactics to mend the UNCLOS legislation to its will in order to legitimise its claim on SCS. Differing from typical lawfare tactics China is also mending the natural form of SCS with its Sansha City Island building project that lays a foundation for China administrative control over the SCS. For China SCS is its own backyard that has always belonged to China and any actions against China's claim is an attack against China's sovereignty. This evidence strengthens the claim of this paper that Chinese actions are best described from a constructivist perspective. SCS is a sacred duty for China, and it will go to extreme lengths to defend its honour on the subject.

Due to the limitations of the scope of this paper further research of this issue could be conducted on how Beijing is pushing SCS contestant states from forming a mutual stance against China under the umbrella of ASEAN. The same tools that this paper has revealed for Beijing to shape the ideas and concepts of the SCS littoral states can be used to achieve a large variety of different political goals and a deeper understanding of this phenomenon could make it easier to foresee what China might be doing in the future.

### LIST OF REFERENCES

- Arbitration under annex VII of the United Nations Convention On The Law Of The Sea. (2013). Memorial of the Philippines volume 1. Retrieved from https://files.pcacpa.org/pcadocs/Memorial%20of%20the%20Philippines%20Volume%20I.pdf, 28 March 2021.
- Asia Maritime Transparency Initiative. China island tracker. Retrieved from https://amti.csis.org/island-tracker/china/, 5 April 2021.
- Blanchard.B.(2016). China Eyes Eight Cruise Ships to Serve South China Sea. Jakarta times. Retrieved from https://jakartaglobe.id/news/china-eyes-eight-cruise-ships-serve-southchina-sea/, 4 April 2021.
- Brown. K. 2018. The Belt and Road: Security Dimensions. Asia Europe Journal 16. pp 213-222. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10308-018-0514-9, 14 April 2021.
- Refinitiv (2020). Bri connect: an initiative in numbers 2nd edition: asia in focus. Retrieved from https://www.refinitiv.com/content/dam/marketing/en\_us/documents/reports/belt-and-road-initiative-in-numbers-issue-2.pdf, 4 January 2022.
- Chansoria.M. (2018). Arbitration as a Means to Settle Territorial Disputes in the South China Sea:Case Study and History of China and The Philippines. The japan institute of International affairs. Retrieved from https://jiia.repo.nii.ac.jp/?action=pages\_view\_main&active\_action=repository\_view\_ma in\_item\_detail&item\_id=1150&item\_no=1&page\_id=13&block\_id=21m, 12 April 2021.
- Chen.X.(2016). Sansha to build 83 low-rent apartments. China Internet Information Center. Retrieved from http://www.china.org.cn/china/2012-07/30/content\_26064577.htm, 4 April 2021.
- Chen.S. (2019). The Development of Cambodia–China Relation and Its Transition Under the OBOR Initiative. The Chinese Economy, 51:4, 370-382. Retireved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10971475.2018.1457317, 15 April 2021.
- China island tracker (2021). Asian Maritime Transparency Initiative. Retrieved from https://amti.csis.org/island-tracker/china/, 10 April 2021.
- Chinese society of international law. The South China Sea Arbitration Awards: A Critical Study. Chinese Journal of International Law, Volume 17, Issue 2, June 2018, Pages 207–748. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/chinesejil/jmy012, 12 April 2021.
- De Castro.R (2020). From appeasement to soft balancing: the duterte administration's shifting policy on the South China Sea imbroglio. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00927678.2020.1818910?casa\_token=Hb vXz0LDDzgAAAAA%3AaOE-MwUVd5KYIzdVe\_BqL-NfX26Za0OGPFAbko-sUsIKjEm5Q-BjcQHdMez0IZoCF6KiN8DLahg\_w, 12 April 2021.

- Duong. V. (2020). A Vietnamese Perspective on China's Belt and Road Initiative in Vietnam. Contemporary Chinese Political Economy and Strategic Relations. Volume 6 -issue 1. Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/openview/9c445aa9633b5faf7f584ab7917ccd01/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=2042768, 5 December 2021.
- Estrada. D (2018). China's Belt and Road Initiative: Implications for the Philippines. Philippines foreign service institute. FSI insights volume 5. Retrieved from https://www.think-asia.org/bitstream/handle/11540/8077/Vol-5-No-3-China%E2%80%99s-Belt-and-Road-Initiative-Implications-for-the-Philippines-Estrada1.pdf?sequence=1, 4 December 2021.
- Grossman. D (2020). Reviewing Vietnam's 'Struggle' Options in the South China Sea What are Hanoi's options to push back on Beijing?. The diplomat. Retrieved from http://www.viet-studies.net/kinhte/VNOptionsSCS Diplomat.pdf , 4 December 2021.
- Guilfoyle. D. (2019). The rule of law and maritime security: understanding lawfare in the South China Sea. international Affairs, Volume 95, Issue 5, September 2019, Pages 999–1017. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iiz141, 14 April 2021.
- Haver.Z.(2021). China Maritime Report No. 12: Sansha City in China's South China Sea Strategy: Building a System of Administrative Control. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.usnwc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1011&context=cmsi-maritimereports, 1 April 2021.
- Heydarian.J. (2018). Duterte's Ambitious 'Build, Build, Build' Project To Transform The Philippines Could Become His Legacy. Forbes. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/outofasia/2018/02/28/dutertes-ambitious-buildbuild-project-to-transform-the-philippines-could-become-his-legacy/?sh=76e3da6a1a7f, 3 December 2021.
- Huang. Y. (2016). Understanding China's Belt & Road Initiative: Motivation, framework and assessment. China economic Review. volume 40. pp314-321. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1043951X16300785?casa\_token=\_G 25Lu7HJncAAAAA:O6QunC3O3r-M\_HJ9tBcM9eLp-UXN8Na2rTagcnlon bB4ll YOlCqawAJ3bhBygVV7s7Gtxd6bM, 14 April 2021.
- Informal single negotiating text, part 2. (1977). PP 171. Retrieved from https://legal.un.org/diplomaticconferences/1973\_los/docs/english/vol\_5/a\_conf62\_wp8\_rev1\_part2.pdf, 14 April 2021.
- Jackson, Sorensen. (2016). Introduction to international relations. Theories and approaches. Sixth edition. Oxford press.
- Kuyucu.M. (2020). The Big Boom Of Chinese Economy: How Did China Succeeded? An Analysis Of Chinese Growth For 40 Years (1980-2020). Current Researches in Humanities and Social Sciences. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kutay\_Mutdogan/publication/341981049\_B2B\_M

arket\_Segmentation\_A\_Case\_Study\_for\_a\_Demand\_and\_Supply\_Sides\_'Integrated\_M arket\_Segmentation'\_Approach\_in\_an\_Industrial\_Market/links/5edc2b2a299bf1c67d4a ca86/B2B-Market-Segmentation-A-Case-Study-for-a-Demand-and-Supply-Sides-Integrated-Market-Segmentation-Approach-in-an-Industrial-Market.pdf#page=186, 12 April 2021.

- Le.T. (2020). Troubled waters: China's sovereign ambition in the shadows of Covid-19. Lowy institute. Retrieved from https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/troubled-waters-china-s-sovereign-ambition-shadows-covid-19, 3 December 2021.
- Livermore. (2018). China's "Three Warfares" In Theory and Practice in the South China Sea. Georgetown security studies review. Retrieved from https://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org/2018/03/25/chinas-three-warfares-intheory-and-practice-in-the-south-china-sea/, 14 April 2021.
- McGlinchey, Walters, Scheinpflug (2017). International Relations Theory. E-international relations publishing. Bristol, England.
- Mubeed,A. (2020). South China Sea Dispute: China's Role and Proposed Solutions. Journal of Political Studies. Volume 24. pp205-220. Retrieved from http://pu.edu.pk/images/journal/pols/pdf-files/12-v27\_2\_20.pdf, 2 December 2021.
- Mogato. M. (2016). ASEAN deadlocked on South China Sea, Cambodia blocks statement. Reuters. Retrieved from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-southchinasea-ruling-aseanidUSKCN1050F6m, 3 December 2021.
- Ndi.G. (2016). Philippines v China: assessing the implications of the South China Sea arbitration.
- Nye. J. (2002). The paradox of American Power. New York. Oxford university Press.
- Oba. M. (2019). Further development of Asian regionalism: institutional hedging in an uncertain era. Journal of Contemporary East Asia Studies Volume 8, 2019 Issue 2. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/24761028.2019.1688905, 13 April 2021.
- Owen.N. (2020). Disputed South China Sea hydrocarbons in perspective. Marine Policy Volume 36, Issue 3
- Putra. B. 2020. Comprehending Brunei Darussalam's vanishing claims in the South China Sea: China's exertion of economic power and the influence of elite perception. Cogent Social Sciences Volume 7, issue 1. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1858563, 15 April 2021.
- Permanent Court of Arbitration. (2016). PCA Case Nº 2013-19- In The Matter Of The South China Sea Arbitration. Retrieved from https://www.pcacases.com/web/sendAttach/2086, 28 March 2021.
- Rabena. A. (2020). The Complex Interdependence of China's Belt and Road Initiative in the Philippines. Asia & the pacific policy studies Volume 8 -Issue 2. Retireved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/app5.257, 3 December 2021.

- Roberts.C. (2017) THE SOUTH CHINA SEA: BEIJING'S CHALLENGE TO ASEAN AND UNCLOS AND THE NECESSITY OF A NEW MULTI-TIERED APPROACH. S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/resrep19926, 15 April 2021.
- Tran. H. (2020). China-ASEAN Trade Relations: A Study of Determinants and Potentials. The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business. Retrieved from https://www.koreascience.or.kr/article/JAKO202026061031259.page, 15 April 2021.
- Tufts University (2021). Chapter 2: Maritime Zones. Retrieved from https://sites.tufts.edu/lawofthesea/chapter-two/, 10 April 2021.
- United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. (1982). Retrieved from https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention\_agreements/texts/unclos/unclos\_e.pdf, 24 March 2021.
- United Nations. (2011). 200 nautical miles from the baselines:Submissions to the Commission: Joint submission by Malaysia and the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/Depts/los/clcs\_new/submissions\_files/submission\_mysvnm\_33\_200 9.htm, 27 March 2021.
- United Nations (2009). Letter. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/depts/los/clcs\_new/submissions\_files/mysvnm33\_09/chn\_2009re\_m ys\_vnm\_e.pdf, 27 March 2021.
- United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (2008). Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf. Rules of Procedure of the Commission on the Limits of the Continental Shelf. Retrieved from https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N08/309/23/PDF/N0830923.pdf?OpenElement, 28 March 2021.
- Wendt. A. (1992). Anarchy is what states make of it: the social construction of power politics. International Organization, Vol. 46, No. 2 pp. 391-425. Retrieved from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2706858, 14 April 2021.
- Williams.S. (2014). Law of the Sea Mechanisms: Examining UNCLOS Maritime Zones. Retrieved from https://www.maritime-executive.com/article/Law-of-the-Sea-Mechanisms-Examining-UNCLOS-Maritime-Zones-2014-12-01 27 March 2021.
- WORLD ECONOMIC LEAGUE TABLE 2021 (2020). The Centre for Economics and Business Research. Retrieved from https://cebr.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/WELT-2021final-15.01.pdf, 4 December 2021.
- Yee.A. (2011). Maritime Territorial Disputes in East Asia: A Comparative Analysis of the South China Sea and the East China Sea. German Institute for Global and Area Studies. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/186810261104000207, 3 December 2021.

### **Appendix 1. Non-exclusive license**

A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and for granting public access to the graduation thesis<sup>1</sup>:

I Tomi Särkikangas

1. Give Tallinn University of Technology a permission (non-exclusive licence) to use free of charge my creation CHINA'S STRATEGY ON THE SOUTH CHINA SEA, supervised by Vlad Alex Vernygora,

1.1. to reproduce with the purpose of keeping and publishing electronically, including for the purpose of supplementing the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires;1.2. to make available to the public through the web environment of Tallinn University of Technology, including through the digital collection of TalTech library until the copyright expires.

2. I am aware that the author will also retain the rights provided in Section 1.

3. I confirm that by granting the non-exclusive licence no infringement is committed to the third persons' intellectual property rights or to the rights arising from the personal data protection act and other legislation.

<sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the access restriction period with the exception of the right of the university to reproduce the graduation thesis only for the purposes of preservation.